THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Marjorie Cato Burton as Trustee of the Sloan Marvin Burton
and Marjorie Cato burton, AB Living Trust by and through
David A. Burton as Attorney-in-Fact, Individually and in the
right and on behalf of T.E. Cato Estate, LLC, Appellant

MAR 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

v.

Carroll M. Pitts, Jr., Esq. and Robinson Bradshaw & Hinson,
P.A., Respondents

Appellate Case No: 2015-001053

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III
York County
Circuit Court Case No: 2010-CP-46-02267

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew B. Rosbrugh
MBR LAW, LLC
PO Box 292290
Columbia, South Carolina 29229
Telephone: 803.753.1432
Facsimile: 803.419.9614

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did The Trial Court Commit Reversible Error When It Held There Was No Proximately Caused Damages from Respondents' Professional Negligence?
- B. Did The Trial Court Commit Reversible Error When It Held Contra Established Case Law And The Clear Factual Record That There Was No Attorney – Client Relationship Between Respondents and Appellant Trust?
- C. Did the Trial Court Commit Reversible Error in holding that the LLC's claims were barred by the Statute of Limitation deadline of October 27, 2010 when the Complaint was filed on May 27, 2010?
- D. Did the Trial Court Commit Reversible Error when it held that dissolution of the LLC prevented recovery of claims assigned to an LLC member and part of a derivative lawsuit?
- E. Did the Trial Court Abuse It's Discretion in denying the Plaintiff's Motion to Amend the Complaint?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This non-jury, legal malpractice, professional negligence and derivative action began on May 27, 2010 with the filing of a Summons and Complaint. **1 R. p. 57.** The Appellants alleged, among other things, that Respondents committed legal malpractice and professional negligence when Respondents failed to properly form Plaintiff T.E. Cato Estate, LLC (hereinafter referred to as "LLC"), and failed to properly transfer property into the LLC. The lawsuit sought to recover damages on behalf of the LLC and an LLC member, the Sloan Marvin Burton and

Marjorie Cato Burton, AB Living Trust (hereinafter referred to as "Trust") in excess of \$570,000 including fees, costs, and the undervaluation of the property transferred into the LLC and sold by the LLC.

On July 20, 2010, Respondents answered the complaint denying all liability and the matter proceeded forward. **1 R. p. 134**. On September 9, 2013, Appellants moved to amend the Complaint to add additional Defendants and to clarify causes of action. **1 R. p. 278**. Respondents opposed the Motion to Amend. See **1 R. p. 336**. On October 24, 2013, the Court denied the Motion to Amend. See **1 R. p. 18**. A motion to reconsider was filed and denied. See **1 R. p. 353** and **1 R. p. 22**.

This matter proceeded to a non-jury trial on December 16-18, 2014 and January 26-27, 2015. On April 3, 2015, the Trial Court entered its order in favor of the Respondents which was received on April 9, 2015. The Trial Court held in part, that Respondents committed professional negligence but there was no proximate caused damage. See **1 R. p. 23**. A Motion to Reconsider was timely filed and denied on April 30, 2015. See **1 R. p. 359** and **1 R. p. 53**. The Order denying reconsideration was received on or about May 4, 2015. The Notice of Appeal was filed on May 18, 2015. See **1 R. p. 878**.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This matter arises as a result of the defective formation of a Limited Liability Company and real estate transaction drafted and created by the Defendants. T.E. Cato died in 1957 leaving to his heirs various parcels of property in York County.

Through the passage of time, this property was conveyed to various descendants. By 2007, the property was vested in varying percentages in seven (7) heirs. **3 R. p. 976, lines 10-12; 3 R. p. 1196, lines 4-25; 3 R. p. 1197 lines 1-4; 4 R. p. 1691.** Plaintiff Marjorie Burton, as the daughter of T.E. Cato, held a twenty percent (20%) interest in the total property.¹

Through the fifty plus years of ownership by the heirs, Marjorie Burton held the property in different names, including the Marjorie Cato Burton Revocable Living Trust. In 2004, the South Carolina Department of Transportation (DOT), initiated efforts to exchange a roadbed tract on the heirs property, referred to henceforth as the "Old Roadbed", for another roadbed tract, referred to henceforth as the "New Roadbed", on the same parcel of the heirs property. **3 R. p. 1008, lines 10-25; 3 R. p. 1009, lines 1-12; 3 R. p. 1012, lines 8-25.** At that time, Marjorie Burton's share of the property was held by the Marjorie Cato Burton Revocable Living Trust. In 2004, DOT received title to the New Roadbed tract from the heirs, including the Marjorie Cato Burton Revocable Living Trust. **3 R. p. 1294.** On October 19, 2006, Marjorie Burton dissolved her Marjorie Cato Burton Living Revocable Trust. **3 R. p. 1013, lines 18-21; 3 R. p.1269.** DOT waited until October 24, 2006 to deed to the heirs the Old Roadbed. **3 R. p. 1015, lines 6-17; 3 R. p.**

¹ Plaintiff's identity in this matter is referred to as Marjorie Burton for the purpose of clarity. Mrs. Burton was the natural person who originally inherited the subject property. During the course of her lifetime she placed her interest in the subject property into a series of trust instruments culminating with the Sloan Marvin Burton and Marjorie Cato Burton A.B. Living Trust. **3 R. p. 1083, lines 22-25; 3 R. p. 1084, lines 1-6.** As a result of her infirmity and eventual death, the current trustee is her son, Dr. David Burton. **3 R. p. 1083, lines 22-25; 3 R. p. 1084, lines 1-6.**

1267; 3 R. p. 1269. In doing so, DOT deeded Marjorie Burton's ownership interest to her dissolved trust. **3 R. p. 1269.** Marjorie Burton subsequently formed the current plaintiff, the Sloan Marvin Burton and Marjorie Cato Burton, AB Living Trust. **3 R. p. 1273.**

During the heirs' ownership of the property, there were several efforts by the heirs, to market and / or develop portions of the property. **3 R. p. 972, lines 13-17.** However, there was significant dissension among the heirs. **3 R. p. 972, lines 20-22.** In early 2007, James Thomas Cato, hereinafter referred to as "Cato," contacted Defendant Pitts, who was at that time employed with Defendant Robinson, Bradshaw, and Hinson (RBH), with the idea of marketing the different parcels for sale and / or development. **3 R. p. 978, lines 10-25.** Cato met with Defendant Pitts regarding the formation of an appropriate entity and for transfer of the devised property into the entity. **3 R. p. 979, lines 12-24; 3 R. p. 986, lines 7-11; 3 R. p. 1001, lines 18-20.** Cato instructed Pitts to protect Cato from the other family members and to protect the other family members from him. **3 R. p. 980, lines 6-13; 3 R. p. 981, lines 16-25; 3 R. p. 1080, line 20 - p. 1081, line 9; 3 R. p. 1138, lines 1-8; 3 R. p. 1208, line 11 - p. 1209, line 23.** Pitts provided the LLC with a bill indicating "research probate records and titles" during the deeding of the property into the future LLC. **3 R. p. 1082, lines 20-22; 3 R. p. 1198, lines 2-7; 3 R. p. 1200, lines 15-25; 4 R. p. 1634.** However, Pitts testified he did not perform a title search.² **3 R. p. 1185, lines 10-11.** Pitts did not prepare an engagement

² Cato also testified that no title search was performed during the deed into the then not formed LLC. **3 R. p. 1005, lines 1-4.**

letter or fee agreement. **3 R. p. 1204, line 25 - p. 1205, line 18; 3 R. p. 1206, lines 2-5; 3 R. p. 1207, lines 6-10.** Pitts also did not prepare any conflict disclosures or waivers. **3 R. p. 1206, lines 17-23.** Pitts did not contact any of the heirs by phone, mail, or otherwise. **3 R. p. 1060, lines 3-4; 3 R. p. 1207, lines 11-17.** Marjorie Burton never received any communications from anyone informing her that Defendant Pitts was only representing Cato. **3 R. p. 1116, lines 22-24.** Pitts never contacted Marjorie Burton or anyone associated with the Trust. **3 R. p. 1141, lines 20-23.**

Pursuant to Cato's directive, Pitts prepared a general warranty deed, operating agreement, and articles of organization for an LLC pursuant to the South Carolina Limited Liability Company statute at S.C. Code Ann., § 33-44-101, et. seq. **3 R. p. 980, line 14 - p. 981, line 3; 3 R. p. 1002, line 13 - p. 1003, line 4; 3 R. p. 1136, lines 13-20; 3 R. p. 1137, lines 6-11; 3 R. p. 1143, lines 7-15; 3 R. p. 1185, line 25 - p. 1186, line 6; 3 R. p. 1305, 3 R. p. 1309, 3 R. p. 1331.** Pitts understood the Articles of Organization were to set out the rules for how the LLC would operate and that the Deed would convey the properties into the LLC. **3 R. p. 1140, lines 3-6.** Pitts also understood that the documents were intended to govern which individual members would have what powers and duties within the LLC. **3 R. p. 1140, lines 3-6.**

Pitts gave Cato the documents he prepared on or about May 30, 2007 and instructed Cato to obtain signatures from the heirs on the operating agreement, articles, and deed. **3 R. p. 987, line 9 - p. 988, line 2, lines 11-13; 3 R. p. 1144, lines 12-23, 3 R. p. 1188, lines 17-19.** Pitts understood that Cato would be taking

them to the heirs and explaining the documents. **3 R. p. 1143, lines 3-10; 3 R. p. 1144, lines 20-23.** Cato met with Marjorie and her husband at their Raleigh residence and obtained their signatures.³ **3 R. p. 990, lines 5-16.** Cato explained the documents to Marjorie Burton during a ten-hour meeting at her home in Raleigh on June 1, 2007. **3 R. p. 992, line 15 - p. 993, line 4.** Marjorie Burton believed that Cato was to be the spokesperson for the LLC. **3 R. p.1094, line 18 - p. 1096, line 14; 3 R. p. 1405.** Pitts did not have any contact with any of the heirs at any time prior to or during the formation of the LLC or the General Warranty Deed into the LLC. **3 R. p. 994, lines 5-9; 3 R. p. 1060, lines 3-4; 3 R. p. 1090, lines 17-20; 3 R. p. 1141, lines 18-23; 3 R. p. 1142, lines 9-25; 3 R. p. 1207, lines 11-17; 3 R. p. 1235, line 20 - p. 1236, line 1.**

The Deed and organizational documents prepared by Pitts were executed by the heirs between May 28, 2007 and June 16, 2007. **3 R. p. 1331.** Cato delivered to Pitts the executed deed and LLC documents. **3 R. p. 1142, lines 11-14.** Pitts did not file the LLC documents with the South Carolina Secretary of State until June 26, 2007. **3 R. p. 1305.** The certificate of existence for the LLC was not issued by the South Carolina Secretary of State until June 28, 2007, some 12 days after the final signature executing the deed into the LLC. **3 R. p. 1305.** The Deed was not recorded by Pitts until July 10, 2007. **3 R. p. 1331.** Pitts received the documents back from the recording offices around July 20, 2007. **3 R. p. 1143,**

³ At the time of this meeting, Marjorie Burton was quite elderly. She was a retired school teacher. **3 R. p. 1091, lines 4-5.** Due to Marjorie Burton's physical condition, she was unable to read. **3 R. p. 1087, line 22 - p. 1088, line 8; 3 R. p. 1089, lines 23-25.** Due to these physical infirmities, Dr. David Burton assisted Marjorie Burton in typing emails. **3 R. p. 1123, lines 10-18.**

lines 0-12. Pitts continued to be consulted by Cato from time to time “to make sure [he] was doing the right thing”. **3 R. p. 1048 line 16 - p. 1049, line 9; 3 R. p. 1178, lines 21-25.** Cato kept Pitts informed by copies of emails. **3 R. p. 1049, lines 7-9; 4 R. p. 1419; 4 R. p. 1688.**

On August 1, 2007, Cato sent to the heirs an email requesting them to submit any bids for the property at or over one million dollars (\$1,000,000.00) prior to noon on August 3, 2007. **3 R. p. 1092, lines 21-24; 3 r. p. 1093, lines 4-9; 3 R. p. 1404.** Marjorie Burton responded to that email on August 4, 2007, inquiring into certain issues and expressing her concern that Cato was not confused as to his role in this matter solely as spokesperson without authority to enter into a binding contract for sale. **3 R. p. 1094, line 18 - p. 1096, line 14; 3 R. p. 1405; 4 R. p. 1688.** Marjorie Burton further expressed her understanding that Cato was not empowered to sell the jointly held property without “all of the heirs coming to a unanimous decision as to what should or should not be done with the property and, obviously, doesn't rest solely with any one heir or individual.”⁴ **3 R. p. 1095, lines 11-17; 3 R. p. 1405; 4 R. p. 1688.**

Defendant Pitts received a copy of this email and printed it for his file on August 15, 2007 and placed it in the RBH file. **3 R. p. 1149, line 19 - p. 1150, line 1; 3 R. p. 1155, lines 10-16; 3 R. p. 1170, lines 12-24; 3 R. p. 1171 lines 5-12; 4 R. p. 1688.** Pitts understood that Marjorie Burton's email questioned the authority

⁴ The heirs had a long-standing understanding that no one heir could unilaterally decide any issue related to the property and that any decision regarding the property had to be a unanimous decision. **3 R. p. 1127, lines 1-22.**

of Cato. **3 R. p. 1179, lines 10-19.**⁵ Pitts took no steps to contact Marjorie Burton regarding the authority of Cato as manager of the LLC. **3 R. p. 1179, lines 10-19.** Cato continued to interact with Defendant Pitts. **3 R. p. 991, lines 7-14; 3 R. p. 1073 lines 3-25; 3 R. p. 1074, lines 9-16; 3 R. p. 1075, lines 1-3; 3 R. p. 1076 line 18 - p. 1077, line 3, lines 15-25; 3 R. p. 1078, lines 1-9, 19-22; 3 R. p. 1079, lines 18-21; 5 R. p. 1985**

Pitts received an email from Cato on July 30, 2007 with a copy of the Thomasson letter of intent and reviewed it. **3 R. p. 1146, lines 9-12; 3 R. p. 1147, lines 23-24.** On August 3, 2007, Cato signed a letter of intent to sell the majority of the heirs' property to Thomasson Apartments LLC. **3 R. p. 1017, lines 8-12; 21-25; 3 R. p. 1018, lines 2-24; 3 R. p. 1238, lines 6-9, 3 R. p. 1341.** This letter of intent was a non-binding instrument to allow Thomasson to initiate and prepare financing for the purchase and development of the parcels. **3 R. p. 1018, line 25 - p 1019, line 6; 3 R. p. 1148, lines 10-20.**

On August 20, 2007, Cato responded by email to Marjorie Burton's August 4, 2007, email and assured her he does not do anything without the review and approval of the corporate lawyer. **3 R. p. 988, lines 20-24; 3 R. p. 1097, lines 10-15; 3 R. p. 1407; 4 R. p. 1419.** Cato's response included his assertion that "I really appreciate your concern for liability from exposure to developers but nothing

⁵ When asked whether the authority questions posed by Marjorie Burton related to the issues Pitts was dealing with the LLC and Cato, Pitts testified he "would normally assume that I would have discussed this information with Tommy Cato. I, I do not know that I did that." **3 R. p. 1177, lines 16-21.** Pitts further admitted that the contents of the email related to Cato's ability or authority to execute the Letter of Intent without the involvement of anyone else. **3 R. p. 1178, lines 15-20.**

I do is without consultation with the corporation attorney and the corporation CPA.”

3 R. p. 989, lines 12-15; 3 R. p. 1407; 4 R. p. 1419. Cato’s email continues by stating

[s]ince I am neither an attorney nor a CPA, their oversight and involvement, as I have stated over and over in letters to the heirs to seek their input and to seek their advice, is necessary to protect the partners and to protect the corporation. Continuing in ongoing consultations takes time and money but those consults represent insurance against risks.

3 R. p. 989, lines 16-22; 3 R. p. 1407. Cato went on to assert that “the heirs have agreed that Tommy’s turn has come to be in charge and that interests in the Corporation are the same as the percentage of ownership. In the Corporation, no one has ‘veto power’ over the majority.” **3 R. p. 1098, line 24 - p. 1099, line 5; 3 R. p. 1407; 4 R. p. 1419.** Cato was referring to Defendant Pitts as the corporation attorney within this email. **SR. p. 2087, lines 9-11.**

Pitts printed a copy of this email on August 23, 2007 and placed it into the RBH file. **3 R. p. 1155, lines 21-25; 3 R. p. 1156, lines 6-8; 3 R. p. 1172, lines 10-23; 4 R. p. 1419.** Pitts did not contact Marjorie Burton regarding Cato’s assertions within this email. **3 R. p. 1181, lines 22-24.**

Joshua Vann, Esquire, attorney for Thomasson, identified a discrepancy between the deed and the letter of intent. **3 R. p. 1005, lines 17-23; 3 R. p. 1021, lines 8-12; 3 R. p. 1239, lines 6-15.** Vann’s title search disclosed the property described in Pitts’ deed into the LLC included the New Roadbed that belonged to DOT and did not include the Old Roadbed that belonged to the heirs. **3 R. p. 1005, lines 17-23; 3 R. p. 1006, lines 10-25; 3 R. p. 1007, lines 3-13; 3 R. p. 1239,**

lines 6-15. As a result, Vann prepared a quitclaim deed and a contract titled as "Amendment to Contract". **3 R. p. 1241, lines 4-15; 3 R. p. 1342.**

On or about October 22, 2007, prior to Cato's execution of the Amendment to Contract and prior to closing on the sale to Thomasson, a quitclaim deed was circulated to the heirs, including Marjorie Burton.⁶ **3 R. p. 1023, lines 22-23; 3 R. p. 1410.** The letter requested that each of the heirs sign over any interest they might have in the Old Roadbed tract. **3 R. p. 1024, lines 13-20.** Marjorie Burton emailed Cato on November 7, 2007, expressing her concerns regarding the progression of events and the LLC. **3 R. p. 1411.** In particular, Marjorie Burton was concerned about the sales price for the property, inconsistencies in the representations made by Cato regarding valuation, the lack of an appraisal, and issues raised by Burton regarding capital gains taxes. **3 R. p. 1411.**

On November 24, 2007, Marjorie Burton emailed Cato attempting to get information on the status of the land and to determine whether or not the sales price was reasonable. **3 R. p. 1114, lines 9-16; 3 R. p. 1684.** The email also suggested that the one million dollar sales price accepted by Cato was not adequate. **3 R. p. 1115, lines 2-9.** On November 30, 2007, Marjorie Burton sent a proposed settlement of the issue to Cato and the other heirs for consideration setting forth her request to compromise the issues created through the failures of the deed and organizational documents. **4 R. p. 1775.** This email provided a

⁶ The Vann quitclaim deed described all of the areas being conveyed to the Thomasson group, not just the Old Roadbed. **3 R. p. 1249, lines 10-24; 4 R. p. 1670.**

framework whereby Marjorie Burton would agree to sign off on the quitclaim deed for the roadbed issue.

On December 6, 2007, Cato executed the Amendment to Contract.⁷ **3 R. p. 1239, lines 16-21; 3 R. p. 1342.** The Amendment to Contract called for a partition action to be filed against Marjorie Burton in order to clear the title to the Old Roadbed tract. **3 R. p. 1240, lines 16-23.** Pitts and Cato consulted regarding the "Amendment to Contract". **3 R. p. 1160, lines 1-12.** As a part of the Amendment to Contract, Thomasson agreed to pay the first ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00) in attorney's fees for a partition action against Marjorie Burton. **3 R. p. 1342.**

Despite Marjorie Burton's expressed concerns, Cato pressed forward with the Thomasson transaction. On December 12, 2007, Joshua Vann emailed Pitts regarding the closing documents and attached a copy of the closing documents for review by Pitts. **3 R. p. 1162, lines 12-20; 3 R. p. 1163, lines 1-7.** Vann communicated with Pitts in Pitts' capacity as attorney for the LLC. **3 R. p. 1238, lines 1-11; 3 R. p. 1160, lines 18-23; 3 R. p. 1161, lines 16-21; 3 R. p. 1246, lines 18-22.** In that email, Vann wrote Pitts to say:

[t]here is a new ethics opinion making it clear that preparing a deed, a closing attorney is providing representation to the seller. The opinion involved residential closing, but I like to play it safe. I have prepared a deed for today's closing. In your capacity as counsel for T.E. Cato Estates, LLC, please review and approve.

⁷ There was no original binding contractual document to be amended. **3 R. p. 1027, lines 15-23; 3 R. p. 1028, lines 6-11.**

3 R. p. 1164, lines 4-25; 3 R. p. 1242, lines 12-21; 4 R. p. 1687. Attorney Vann's email also inquired of Pitts whether Cato had the authority to consummate the transaction for the LLC. **3 R. p. 1247; lines 17-22; 4 R. p. 1687.** Pitts did not communicate to Vann anything regarding the content of the Operating Agreement. **3 R. p. 1250, lines 7-15.**

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