THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
John C. Hayes III, Circuit Court Judge

MAR 14 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-001053
Case No. 2010-CP-46-02267

Marjorie Cato Burton as Trustee of the Sloan Marvin
Burton and Marjorie Cato Burton, AB Living Trust by
and through David A. Burton as Attorney-in-Fact,
Individually and in the right and on behalf of T.E. Cato
Estate, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Carroll M. Pitts, Jr., Esq. and Robinson Bradshaw &
Hinson, P.A., Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Samuel W. Outten
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
Post Office Box 10084
Greenville, SC 29603-0084

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court’s ultimate decision in favor of Respondents should be affirmed for several reasons. First and foremost, Appellant’s appeal is untimely and should be dismissed. Moreover, the trial court’s determinations that Appellant failed to establish any damages proximately caused by Respondents’ alleged acts or omissions or the existence of an attorney-client relationship are supported by the evidence. The trial court also correctly found that any derivative claims were extinguished upon the termination of the LLC, and that any claims of the LLC were barred by the statute of limitations. Accordingly, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in denying Appellant’s

⁷ The trial court also found that the issue of setoff was moot, as the Court made no award to Appellant.

motion to amend to add non-derivative claims on behalf of the LLC in its own right. Finally, the Record contains additional sustaining grounds including: that Attorney Pitts did not commit malpractice/professional negligence; the settlement agreement in the Partition Action released any claims the Burton Trust may have had against Respondents; the assignment agreement between the LLC and the Burton Trust was void against public policy and the claims are barred as a matter of law; and the Burton Trust ratified the December 2007 sale of the subject property by negotiating the check for its share of the proceeds.

THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION

I. Appellant’s appeal is untimely and should be dismissed.

A. Appellant failed to timely file its motion to alter or amend pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP and, as a result, its appeal is untimely.

A motion to reconsider is untimely when it is served more than 10 days after “receipt of written notice of entry of the order.” Rule 59(e), SCRCP. The Supreme Court has explained that the “written notice of the entry of judgment” starts the clock, not the receipt of the order:

Petitioners assert their Rule 59 Motion, filed 10 days after receipt of the written order on February 5, 1998, as opposed to within 10 days of their receipt of notice of entry of judgment, was timely. We disagree. There is simply no language in the rule permitting the motion to be served 10 days after receipt of the written order; it states 10 days after receipt of written notice of the entry of judgment.

Ackerman v. 3-V Chem., Inc., 349 S.C. 212, 214–15, 562 S.E.2d 613, 615 (2002).

Written notice can be received through informal means, such as a fax or letter from opposing counsel. *See Canal Ins. Co. v. Caldwell*, 338 S.C. 1, 5, 524 S.E.2d 416, 418 (Ct. App. 1999) (finding a Rule 59 motion was untimely when, although counsel did not

receive the trial court's original form order, "there [wa]s no question that he received written notice of entry of the judgment, including the judgment roll number, from opposing counsel" by fax and mail). Recently, this Court unequivocally held that an email from a Judge's chambers containing a copy of an order as an attachment "constitutes written notice of entry of the order under Rule 203(b)(1)." *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Properties S.C., LLC*, 413 S.C. 642, 643, 776 S.E.2d 575, 576 (Ct. App. 2015) (per curiam).

Rule 203(b), SCACR requires that a party serve his or her notice of appeal within 30 days after receiving written notice of the entry of a final order or judgment. Rule 203(b), SCACR. Failure to do so divests this Court of subject matter jurisdiction and requires dismissal of the appeal. *Caldwell*, 338 S.C. at 5–6, 524 S.E.2d at 418 (citing *First Carolina Nat'l Bank v. A & S Enters., Inc.*, 272 S.C. 339, 251 S.E.2d 762 (1979); *Burnett v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 252 S.C. 568, 167 S.E.2d 571 (1969)).

On April 3, 2015, counsel for Appellant received written notice of the entry of judgment through an email sent by Judge Hayes' law clerk. (See Emails dated April 3, 2015 between J. Alfieris and R. Jellenik, *et. al.*; R. pp. 2083–84.) The court's email included a copy of the Order and stated that "[l]ater today, I will be taking the Order to the Clerk of Court's office to be filed." (*Id.*) Appellant's counsel replied to the court's email 24 minutes later, indicating his receipt of the same. (*Id.*) However, Appellant's motion for reconsideration was not served upon counsel for Robinson Bradshaw or filed with the court until April 16, 2015 — two days past the ten-day deadline which expired on April 14, 2015. (See Mot. for Reconsideration, Certificate of Service; R. p. 877.)

Because the Rule 59(e) motion was untimely, the time for appeal was not tolled. See *Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004) (“A timely post-trial motion, including a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCPC, stays the time for an appeal for all parties until receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.” (emphasis added)). Thus, Appellant, in order to timely appeal, had to file its notice of appeal on or before May 4, 2015. It did not. (Notice of Appeal; R. pp. 878–81.)

Fallon Properties is on point. In *Fallon Properties*, the parties received an email from the Master-in-Equity, which had the Master’s order attached. *Fallon Properties*, 413 S.C. at 643, 776 S.E.2d at 576. The email indicated that the order was placed in the mail on the same day. *Id.* The appellants filed their notice of appeal twenty-eight days after they received the printed copy of the order in the mail, but thirty-one days after they received the email. *Id.* at 644, 776 S.E.2d at 576. The respondents moved to dismiss the appeal as untimely, and the court granted the motion. *Id.* The appellants filed a petition for rehearing, but the court denied the petition, explaining that the email constituted written notice of entry of the Order under Rule 203(b)(1). The only difference between the present case and *Fallon Properties* is the Master-in-Equity’s email in *Fallon Properties* had a clocked copy of the order attached, whereas here the trial court attached a copy of the order and said it would be filed later that day. This is a distinction without a difference, as in both cases the parties were on written notice of the court’s entry of its final order, received a copy of the order, and were informed of its filing that day.

Appellant’s suggestion that the Rule 59(e) motion was timely confuses “receipt of written notice of entry of the order” with “receipt of the written order.” Appellant’s

counsel's email dated April 3, 2015 demonstrates that he received written notice of the entry of the judgment—along with a copy of the final order—six days prior to his receipt of the written order, and thirteen days prior to serving his Rule 59(e) motion. Because Appellant's motion for reconsideration was not served within ten days of the receipt of written notice of the entry of the judgment, it was time-barred pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. As a result of the Rule 59(e) motion being untimely, the time for filing an appeal was not stayed. Therefore, the time to file an appeal expired on May 4, 2015. Appellant did not serve its notice of appeal until May 14, 2015. Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction over this appeal, and the appeal must be dismissed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

For nonjury actions such as this one, the “trial court’s findings of fact . . . should not be disturbed on appeal unless they are without evidentiary support.” *Hunt v. Forestry Comm’n*, 358 S.C. 564, 569, 595 S.E.2d 846, 848–49 (Ct. App. 2004) (emphasis added); *see also Okatie River, L.L.C., v. Se. Site Prep, L.L.C.*, 353 S.C. 327, 334, 577 S.E.2d 468, 479 (2003) (“In an action at law, tried without a jury, the appellate court standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.”); *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Moorer*, 330 S.C. 46, 51, 496 S.E.2d 875, 878 (Ct. App. 1998) (“In legal actions, our scope of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.”). Therefore, Appellant must overcome a high burden to show the trial court erred in making a certain factual finding.

II. The trial court correctly concluded that Appellant failed to establish any damages proximately caused by any act or omission of Respondents.

Even if Appellant's appeal were timely filed, it fails on the merits because Appellant failed to prove multiple elements of its claims for legal malpractice at trial. Critically, Appellant failed to show any proximately caused damages.

A. The trial court's findings on proximate cause are well supported by the record evidence.

To prevail on a legal malpractice claim, the plaintiff must satisfy the following four elements: (1) the existence of an attorney-client relationship; (2) breach of duty by the attorney; (3) damage to the client; and (4) proximate causation of the client's damage by the breach. *Holy Loch Distribs., Inc. v. Hitchcock*, 340 S.C. 20, 26, 531 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2000). Because proximate cause is so critical to Appellant's appeal and the trial court's findings, Respondents address this element first.

The question of proximate cause is a question of fact. *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 402, 477 S.E.2d 715, 721 (Ct. App. 1996). It is only where "the evidence is susceptible to only one inference" that proximate cause becomes a matter of law. *Id.* at 402, 477 S.E.2d at 722. Proximate cause requires proof of both: (1) causation in fact and (2) legal cause. *Bramlette v. Charter-Medical-Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 72, 393 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1990). "Causation in fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred 'but for' the defendant's negligence." *Id.* Legal cause is proven by establishing foreseeability. *Id.* A plaintiff proves legal cause "by establishing the injury in question occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant's negligence." *Id.*

1. The Partition Action was a direct result of the Burton Trust's own actions, rather than a dispute over Tommy Cato's authority as general manager under the LLC documents.

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in determining that there were no proximately caused damages. Appellant bases its argument on the theory that Attorney Pitts' alleged negligence in drafting the LLC formation documents was the genesis of all subsequent events, ultimately harming Appellant. (Brief of Appellant at 15.) Appellant contends it was foreseeable that the alleged errors in the LLC documents would lead to litigation about how the LLC was to operate and make decisions. (*Id.* at 17.) Appellant argues that the resulting litigation caused damages in the form of legal fees and diminution in value of the LLC property. (*Id.* at 21.)

Appellant attempts to reargue the facts to this Court. This is not the appropriate inquiry at the appellate level. This Court does not conduct a *de novo* review of the facts. See *Okatie River, L.L.C.*, 353 S.C. at 334, 577 S.E.2d at 479. Rather, Appellant is tasked with showing that the trial court's findings were without evidentiary support. In its final Order, the trial court set forth multiple reasons why Appellant failed to prove proximate cause, and provided factual support for its findings. In its brief, Appellant attempts to create a tenuous connection between the actions of Attorney Pitts and the alleged harm that it suffered. The question for this Court, however, is not whether there is an argument that proximate cause exists, but rather whether the trial court's rulings on proximate cause and that the Burton Trust refused to sign the Quitclaim Deed have any evidentiary support. For the reasons set forth in its Order, the trial court's findings were well supported by the evidence.

As the trial court properly determined, Appellant cannot escape the fact that its own decision not to sign the quitclaim deed conveying the Roadbed Tract was the "but

for” cause of the Partition Action and its alleged damages.⁸ (Final Order at 11–14; R. pp. 35–38.) As the trial court explained, at trial Appellant raised several issues which it claimed were pivotal to its decision not to sign the quitclaim deed, such as Tommy Cato’s failure to obtain a survey or appraisal. (*Id.* at 11–12; R. pp. 35–36.) As the trial court reasoned, however, Appellant failed to establish any connection between the failure to obtain a survey or appraisal and the actions of Respondents. (*Id.* at 12; R. p. 36.) No evidence supports the notion that either Tommy Cato or the LLC should have elicited Respondents’ input over obtaining a survey or appraisal. (*Id.*)

As the trial court further explained, the record evidence suggests that Marjorie Burton and the Burton Trust were ready to move forward with the transaction arranged by Tommy Cato, even after the Roadbed Tract needed to be conveyed by quitclaim deed. In her November 30, 2007 email to Tommy Cato, Marjorie Burton specifically noted that she would “agree to sign over the last quitclaim deed” and effect the sale to Thomasson provided certain concerns were addressed. (Defs.’ Ex. 4, Nov. 30, 2007 Email; R. pp. 1775–76.) The concerns that she raised in that email related to: (1) attempting to secure what she believe to be an equal capital gains liability for all parties, (2) possible payment for her and her son Bud’s investment of time and effort in handling the taxes and developing the property, particularly in the event Tommy Cato was compensated, and (3) ensuring that no side agreements or “side deal” existed with Thomasson. (*Id.*) This

⁸ Appellant cites to *Tuten v. Joel*, 410 S.C. 104, 763 S.E.2d 54 (Ct. App. 2014), noting that it is “informative” as the court rejected the defendant lawyer’s superseding or intervening cause argument because the root cause of the injury was the attorney’s negligence. *Tuten* is distinguishable from the present action. The root cause of Appellant’s injury in this matter was its own refusal to sign the quitclaim deed, not any act or omission of Attorney Pitts. Moreover, in *Tuten* the defendant lawyer attempted to absolve himself from malpractice liability by blaming another attorney at his firm for the negligence. See *Tuten*, 410 S.C. at 117, 763 S.E.2d at 61. This Court rejected that argument, finding that the defendant lawyer was negligent for the same reason as the other attorney, and thus could not avoid liability by placing the blame on her. *Id.*

email did not raise any concerns regarding the propriety of the potential transaction or Respondents' performance. Critically, at no point did she question Tommy Cato's authority. She concluded her email by explaining that, "[a]gain, I am willing to sign the . . . quitclaim deed in order for all the other heirs to finish this deal," but that these issues "will have to be ironed out first before that signing occurs." (*Id.*)

Appellant contends a previous email, sent on August 1, 2007, establishes that Marjorie Burton had concerns over Tommy Cato's authority. (Pl.'s Ex. 53, Emails between Burton Trust and Tommy Cato; R. pp. 2141–43.) In this prior email, Marjorie Burton noted that "any final decision to sell or not to sell . . . still rests with all of the heirs coming to a unanimous decision," and communicated her desire that Tommy Cato not "proceed too far in the negotiating process without the proper authorization from the heirs." (*Id.*) This letter, however, could at most be considered a reminder to Tommy Cato that he was working on behalf of all the Cato heirs. It was sent prior to Tommy Cato entering into the Letter of Intent with Thomasson, and prior to Marjorie Burton being informed about the terms of the deal. After learning the terms of the deal, Marjorie Burton made no further mention of Tommy Cato's authority, and did not challenge the LLC's ability to move forward with the transaction.⁹ Quite the opposite, she expressed her intent to sign the quitclaim deed of the Roadbed Tract, assuming the items she raised were ironed out. (*See* Defs.' Ex. 4, Nov. 30, 2007 Email; R. pp. 1775–76.)

⁹ The only other communication from Marjorie Burton between the August 1, 2007 email and the November 30, 2007 email was an email sent on November 24, 2007. (*See* Pl.'s Ex. 48, Nov. 24, 2007 Email; R. pp. 1684–86.) This email primarily communicated a request that Tommy Cato obtain an independent appraisal of the property. Notably, in this email Marjorie Cato acknowledged that she signed the first quitclaim deed "turning over [her] rights" in order to have "T.E. Cato Estate LLC negotiate on my behalf." (*Id.*) She also acknowledged the heirs' role as limited partners and Tommy Cato's role as general partner. (*Id.*)

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